



University of Kentucky **UKnowledge**

DNP Projects College of Nursing

2019

Screening for Alcohol Use, Misuse, or Abuse in the Primary Care Setting using the AUDIT-C tool: An Extension Study

Courtney Amanda Minnis University of Kentucky, courtney.minnis1@uky.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://uknowledge.uky.edu/dnp_etds



Part of the Family Practice Nursing Commons

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Minnis, Courtney Amanda, "Screening for Alcohol Use, Misuse, or Abuse in the Primary Care Setting using the AUDIT-C tool: An Extension Study" (2019). DNP Projects. 280. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/dnp_etds/280

This Practice Inquiry Project is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Nursing at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in DNP Projects by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my DNP Project is my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained and attached hereto needed written permission statements(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine).

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents a royalty-free, non-exclusive and irrevocable license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless a preapproved embargo applies. I also authorize that the bibliographic information of the document be accessible for harvesting and reuse by third-party discovery tools such as search engines and indexing services in order to maximize the online discoverability of the document. I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Assistant Dean for MSN and DNP Studies, on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's DNP Project including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Courtney Amanda Minnis, Student

Dr. Julie Ossege, Advisor

Screening for Alcohol Use, Misuse, or Abuse in the Primary Care Setting using the AUDIT-C tool: An Extension Study

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Nursing

Practice at the University of Kentucky

By

Courtney A. Minnis

Louisville, KY

2019

Dedication

This DNP project is dedicated to several people who have helped me along this journey, without them none of this would have been possible. To my soon to be husband Gage, we began our relationship when I had just found out I had been accepted into this program and was going to be putting our relationship to the ultimate test when it had just begun. You have been my constant cheerleader, motivator, and supporter. You always had faith in me even at times when I didn't have faith in myself. You will never know how truly grateful I am for all the sacrifices you have made and to have you stand by me through all of this, I could have not done this without you. I love you so much. To my sister Susan, you have supported me through this program by always being a shoulder to lean on, humor to laugh at, and snack supplier when the thought of grocery shopping seemed too big of a task. Thank you for also being there when life through more at me than this program and being my strength whenever I needed you. I hope you know how much you mean to me. To my best friend and rooms Stephanie, we have been through so much together and have always been there when I needed you. I love you. To Nicole and Kelli and the rest of my FNP and Cohort 4 family, you all are the only people who truly understand every emotion, assignment, fear, and every hurdle and success we have endured to get to this point. I love you all and am a better person today from knowing each and every one of you. To my sweet Lucy girl, thank you for every hug, cuddle, and doodle drop that made me smile and make the scary things not so bad. Life wouldn't be the same without you. Finally, to my sweet guardian angel Laurie, you were the first person to know I got my interview to this program, and I have no doubt you have been cheering me along in heaven. I hope I have made you proud, I love you.

Acknowledgements

I would like to recognize and express my extreme gratitude to my advisor and committee chair Dr. Julianne Ossege, your support has been invaluable. I would like to thank you for your kindness, unwavering support, and commitment in helping me carry out this project. You have been the definition of professional and your constant trust and never giving up in me through every curve ball that has been thrown at us has been so appreciated. You inspired me to be a better nurse and a better person. You have been my friend and my shoulder to lean on when I needed you whether it was school, and project related of life related. I am forever in your debt. Thank you for changing my life and the passion you dedicate to this profession and every student you touch. The world is a better place because of you. I would also like to recognize Dr. Whitney Spear. I absolutely would not be here without you. From the very first response where you agreed to a stranger request to be a committee member for their DNP project was filled with nothing but excitement and willingness, to today where that support has never wavered. Every text, phone call, and email, you both were nothing but supportive and encouraging and I am forever grateful.

I would also like to recognize my Norton Children's Hospital PICU/CICU family, thank you for supporting and encouraging me throughout the last three years. Thank you to Stacy Flanders, Lauren Curry, and Kristi Salerno for your understanding and patience with me and all my needs. I am proud to call you all my leaders and I hope one day I can return the kindness you have shown me. Thank you as well to Norton Healthcare for their investment in me.

Norton Healthcare Scholarship Recipient: This Doctor of Nursing Practice project and program of study was fully funded through the University of Kentucky College of Nursing and Norton Healthcare academic-practice partnership

Running Head: SCREENING FOR ALCOHOL ABUSE IN PRIMARY CARE

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments1
List of Tables
Abstract4
Introduction5
Background5
Purpose
Utilizing Lewin's Change Theory to Guide Study
Methods
Design12
Setting12
Sample12
Measures13
Procedures14
Data Collection
Data Analysis16
Results
Discussion
Provider Adherence
Limitations19
Implications and Recommendations
Conclusion21
References 25

List of Tables

Table 1- "Demographic and visit characteristics of the sample (N = 100)"	22
Table 2- "Audit-C score distributions by gender"	23
Table 3- "Intervention Outcomes Among men who scored high (n=4)"	24
Table 4- "Intervention Outcomes Among men who scored high (n=8)"	24

Abstract

<u>PURPOSE:</u> The purpose of this study was to improve alcohol screening rates in one primary care setting by educating and supporting providers and office staff on the use of the Audit-C alcohol screening tool.

METHODS: This study design was a Quasi-Experimental intervention, one group post-test. Data was collected utilizing a retrospective chart review from the electronic medical records of adults over age 18 years by visit type: New Patient Visit, Annual Visit, or Employee Wellness Exam. Data included: demographic data of patient age, race, gender, the Audit-C score, and whether or not an intervention was performed.

RESULTS: Five providers (three APRN and two MDs) consented to participate. Of the 100 patient charts reviewed, 33 had an AUDIT-C score documented by a provider. The Audit-C scores ranged from 0-5. Fifty-six percent of females and 20% of males scored high enough for a brief intervention. Three intervention types were found (Counseling, patient declines/no intervention results not documented) with the most common type being counseling.

CONCLUSION: The use of the Audit-C in a primary care setting was shown. Office Staff and providers successfully demonstrated the ability to complete the Audit-C tool and indicated

interventions within standard appointment times. Further studies to examine the impact of adding

the Audit-C to an EMR and its impact on screening rates is warranted.

Screening for Alcohol Use, Misuse, or Abuse in the Primary Care Setting using the AUDIT-C tool: An Extension Study

Introduction

Alcoholism is a major health concern in the United States [US]. Alcoholism leads to numerous health disparities such hypertension, heart and liver diseases, cancers, and poor health outcomes due to higher incidences of risky behaviors (CDC, 2015). Annually, alcoholism costs the US over two-hundred and fifty billion dollars (CDC, 2016). Further broken down, alcoholism annually costs the US healthcare industry about 30 billion dollars, workplace productivity \$179 billion, \$13 billion in car collisions, and \$25 billion in the criminal justice system (CDC, 2016). The area of medicine that is able to make the largest impact on decreasing alcoholism and the detrimental effects it causes is primary care (Fleming, 2005). According to the CDC approximately 54% of ambulatory care visits were made to a primary care setting (CDC, 2016). This large number of visits represents an opportunity for outreach and screening in primary care. Therefore, strategies to aid providers ability to combat alcoholism in primary care must be implemented.

Background

The burden of alcohol misuse extends beyond the U.S. In 2012, almost six percent of all deaths worldwide were attributed to alcohol consumption (WHO, 2014). Worldwide, the World Health Organization [WHO] (2014) estimates more than 200 diseases and injury-attributed conditions were attributed to alcohol misuse.

According to the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) most recent report, over 15 million adults in the United States consume enough alcohol to be diagnosed as having an alcohol use disorder (2015). In the U.S., heavy alcohol use is accountable for close to one-hundred thousand deaths each year (CDC, 2015). The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism defines heavy alcohol use as binge drinking on five or more days in the past month. Binge drinking is defined as a pattern of drinking that brings blood alcohol concentration levels to 0.08 g/dL., typically occurring after four drinks for women and five drinks for men within about two hours (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015). The largest age group that is affected by excessive drinking are those aged 25-35 years, followed by those 18-24 and in third those aged 35-44 (CDC, 2015). These ages are among those seen by primary care. The overuse of alcohol can affect not just those directly consuming it but their families and communities as well. Conditions that can occur due to excessive drinking are hypertension, cancers, various heart and liver diseases, and stroke (CDC, 2015). Excessive alcohol use can also attribute to sexually risky behaviors such as unplanned pregnancies, and sexually transmitted diseases (CDC, 2015). Alcohol abuse can also lead to vehicular crashes, violence, injuries, and fetal alcohol disorders (CDC, 2015). Primary care practitioners can help patients avoid these health problems or risks with early recognition of alcohol abuse (Fleming, 2005).

Alcoholism is defined by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services

Administration (SAMHSA) as the heavy consumption of alcohol for more than five days in a
one-month period (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA),
2015). SAMHSA's most recent survey found that more than half of Americans older than twelve
years of age drink alcohol and close to thirty percent of those Americans identified themselves as
binge or heavy drinkers (SAMHSA, 2015). Americans who exhibit dangerous drinking

behaviors are more likely to experience cardiovascular, liver, and neurologic diseases as well as increased risk of certain cancers and decreased safety awareness leading to sexually transmitted diseases and motor vehicle accidents (CDC, 2015). Almost one-hundred thousand Americans die annually from alcohol-related deaths, making alcohol the third leading preventable cause of death in the United States (National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, 2017). These deaths are attributed to alcoholism causing a multi-system cellular insult to organs. Specific life-threatening outcomes attributed to alcoholism include: breast and colon cancer, pancreatic disease, liver cirrhosis, diabetes, osteoporosis, arthritis, kidney disease, immune system disjunction, hypertension, coronary artery disease, cardiomyopathy, and central nervous system disorders (Dguzeh, et. al., 2018). Clearly, processes to identify alcohol use and misuse as early as possible are needed to avoid detrimental morbidities.

Screening and acute interventions can help curb the severity of alcohol use by catching and addressing the problem early. Primary care has the ability to make a dramatic impact on alcohol abuse through proper screening. Primary care is the recommended population for prevention (Moyer, 2013). Primary care providers can reduce the stigma of discussing alcohol consumption as these providers generally have a long-standing relationship with patients. Patients have been found to agree that provider knowledge of a patient's substance abuse is important because of its impacts on health and medical care and that substance use is not properly identified in medical settings currently (McNeely et. al., 2018). Therefore, Universal screening is the best approach.

The United States Preventative Services Tasks Force [USPSTF] is an evidence-based Resource that supports screening for alcohol misuse as evidenced by their published clinical guideline regarding alcohol misuse (2004). The USPSTF (2019) recommends alcohol screening at a grade B level. A grade B indicates that the suggestion for practice should be to offer or

provide this service. The USPSTF recommends the service with a high certainty that the net benefit is moderate or there is moderate certainty that the benefit could be substantial. Specifically, "The USPSTF recommends screening for unhealthy alcohol use in primary care settings in adults 18 years or older, including pregnant women, and providing persons engaged in risky or hazardous drinking with brief behavioral counseling interventions to reduce unhealthy alcohol use" (U.S. Preventative States Task Force, 2019). USPSTF recommendations are a cornerstone of practicing providers which guides their practice through recommendations and practice standards. This recommendation from the USPSTF should be the evidence-based guideline that could drive protocol creation to standardize alcohol screening.

The USPSTF recommends an evidenced based intervention of annual screening with a standardized screening tool such as the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test- Consumption (Audit-C) followed with brief intervention or counseling as needed (Moyer, 2013). Alcohol screening is a prerequisite for alcohol counseling and intervention for primary care patients, which can decrease drinking and associated risks (Fleming, 2005). Primary Care Providers can utilize screening tools such as the Audit-C to quickly identify heavy drinkers or those who are at risk of becoming heavy drinkers, thus impacting the current future health of their patients.

The Audit-C tool is favorable to providers due to its detection sensitivity for alcohol consumption (Tam, Zwar, and Markham, 2013). Educating primary care providers and MA's will be necessary to ensure this screening is understood and correctly administered to patients. Studies that provide in person training experienced improved provider confidence in the tool, ability to administer it, and improved screening rates (Strayer et. al., 2012). Encouraging providers and their office staff to meet an achievable goal of administering this quick screening tool with minimal interruptions to their schedules will create an achievable benchmark.

Achievable benchmark usage enhances the effectiveness of provider performance of a quality improvement intervention significantly (Kiefe, C., Allison, J., Williams, D. (2001).

Implementing the Audit-C tool and educating office staff on how to properly use the tool is important in primary care. Earlier identification of heavy drinking can lead to earlier intervention and subsequently decreased rates of comorbidities or risks. Unhealthy drinking choices and consequences can be reduced through screening and counseling in primary care (Moyer, 2013). Implementing the three question Audit-C tool can be easily performed, scored and addressed by providers while having a minimal impact on time constraints in a primary care appointment. By implementing the Audit-C tool, it is expected that with increased frequency of alcohol screening, a less advanced course of alcoholism will be identified earlier and therefore a reduction of comorbidities and healthcare costs will be seen.

Discussing alcohol use, abuse, or misuse, can be a difficult topic for both patients and providers to discuss. Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment [SBIRT] can be utilized by providers as a tool for opening the door for discussion and early interventions. SBIRT is an evidence-based practice used to identify, reduce, and prevent problematic use, abuse, and dependence on alcohol and additionally, illicit drugs (Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), 2019). SBIRT begins with screening, such as the Audit-C, and if indicated transitions to a brief interventions and referral to treatment. Brief interventions consist of counseling or education using motivation interviewing, mutual plan building, and referral (American Public Health Association and Education Development Center, Inc., 2008)

Prior to this study, the study organization's primary care settings were not using a standardized alcohol screening tool. Five assessment questions were asked: do you drink alcohol yes or no? Per week: what are the number of glasses of wine, number of cans of beer, number of shots of liquor, number of standard drinks or equivalent that you consume? Also, there was an

area for free text in that section that appeared to be the most frequently used. These questions are similar but not the same as the Audit-C questions. These questions are more vague and are not scored so knowing when to intervene is left to the provider.

Alcohol use and abuse is a growing epidemic that has been on the rise in recent years. There are opportunities for primary care providers to make a consistent effort and impact that is currently being missed. Continuing the effort to combat this epidemic, this study is an extension of a previously completed project within the same healthcare system in a different primary care setting two years prior to the completion of this study.

Purpose

The purpose is to improve rates of alcohol screening in one primary care setting to prevent complications from alcohol misuse or abuse. The primary objectives are to:

- 1) Educate providers and office staff on the Audit-C screening tool in primary care.
- 2) Implement the Audit-C alcohol screening tool in one primary care setting.
- 3) Assess frequency of documentation of alcohol screening/counseling after the implementation of the Audit- C tool.

This project is relevant to the study specific healthcare system because it supports the system's aim to be a proactive and caring healthcare provider that makes positive impacts to the community it directly serves. Improving healthcare providers and MA's ability to appropriately perform the Audit-C screen may aid them in becoming more holistic providers and positively influence their comfort level when discussing and intervening with patients suffering from alcohol addiction.

Utilizing Lewin's Change Theory to Guide Study

Lewin's Change Theory represents a practical model for understanding the process of change. Lewin states change can be enacted in one of two ways: by reducing the strength of opposing forces or by increasing the force for change in the desired outcomes. Lewin's model addresses these forces and states for change implementation force strength must be increased while the strength and position of change forces must be removed or reduced for change implementation.

Lewin's Change theory has three phases. The first phase, unfreezing, is where the problem or process needing change is addressed and people are made aware of the need for change. In the second phase, moving or change, actual implementation of the change occurs. In the third phase, refreezing, the implementation of the change is monitored, and adjustments are made as necessary (Lewin, 1951).

Lewin's Change Theory was selected to guide this study because it provided a strong framework in which this study followed. The unfreezing phase for this project guided research focused on the rising problem of alcohol abuse and focusing on the need for change in primary care to combat the issue. The goal of the unfreezing phase is to create awareness of how the current practice is no longer acceptable. The examination of old and current behaviors of people processes, policies, and structure are examined during this stage. During the project the PI examined the current alcohol screening practices in place and noted an area for potential change (Lewin, 1951). The Audit-C was found to be the recommended evidence-based screening practice recommended in primary care.

The moving phase of the study centered around the education and study briefing for providers and office staff. Borkowski (2016) states to ease the struggle of change for participants, to educate them on reasons for change and feel active in the design of new methods.

Providers and office staff received a briefing that included current statistics indicating need for change regarding alcohol use and why primary care was needed and able to make an impact.

Further, the Audit-C materials and SBIRT materials were provided so that participants could more easily become accustomed to change. This phase is also where participants put the change in place by screening patients and then documenting results and interventions as necessary.

The refreezing phase of the project was supported by the PI being in the office on multiple occasions during the study period to monitor implementation of change and make adjustments as necessary through speaking with participants. Continuous monitoring ensures successful operation of the change while supporting feedback from participant audits and observed findings (Borkowski, 2016).

Methods

Design

This study was a Quasi-Experimental intervention, one group post-test. Data was collected via retrospective chart reviews from the electronic medical records.

Setting

The study was performed at a single primary care office within a large provider network that serves the Louisville Metropolitan area and consists of numerous community medical offices, urgent care centers, well-clinics, specialists, and five major hospitals. Three advanced registered nurse practitioners and two physicians consented to be a part of this study.

Sample

The study included 100 adult patients being seen for Employee Wellness, New Patient, and Annual Well Patient exams during the working days of a two-month time period between June 1, 2019 and July 31, 2019. These visit types were selected due to the elongated visit time

and these are the types of visits where screenings were already being performed. Patients were excluded if they were less than eighteen years of age or could not read or understand the English language. Patients were also excluded if they were being seen for an acute or episodic illness type visit.

Measures

The Audit-C tool is a valid screen for at-risk drinking for those who utilize primary care (Campbell and Maistro, 2018). The Audit- C screening tool is a brief three item questionnaire utilized for alcohol misuse identification (Bradley et. al., 2007). The three questions included on the questionnaire are: How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? How many drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you are drinking? How often do you have six or more drinks on one occasion (Bradley, et. al., 2007)? Each question has 4-5 possible answer options that are assigned a point score. The possible point total ranges from 0-12 points. A score greater than four for men and greater than three for women indicate potential alcohol misuse (Bradley et. al., 2007).

The Audit-C tool is an abbreviated version of the Audit tool and will fit into the confines of a primary care appointment more easily than its elongated parent tool and takes about one to two minutes to complete (Moyer, 2013). The Audit C screening tool has been shown to be as effective and even outperformed the full audit tool for identifying heavy drinking. The Audit-C was also psychometrically superior to the full AUDIT and CAGE tools (Rumpf et. al., 2002; Bradley et. al., 2007; Meneses-Gaya et. al., 2010). In a previous Audit-C study that aimed to examine the psychometric properties of the Audit-C, the screen demonstrated good reliability (0.91) and satisfactory convergent validity. The areas under the ROC curves for any alcohol use disorder and alcohol dependence of the Audit-C were 0.87 and 0.93. (Jeong et. al., 2017).

Procedures

The PI went to a monthly scheduled office meeting and explained the study purpose and aims to the office staff as well as their role in the Audit-C process. The PI also educated the office staff which patients were eligible to participate in the study and how to score the Audit-C. Provider preference determined whether the office staff member would then give the completed Audit-C screen directly to the provider or leave it in the exam room for the provider to review.

The same information was individually delivered to providers who were unable to attend the meeting. Additionally, providers were also each given educational material on the Audit-C tool, alcohol-related resource materials such as community resources and intervention aids. Providers were then left to decide if they were willing to participate in solitude and those who consented left their signed consent forms in a private office for the researcher to collect. The PI returned on different day to collect signed consent forms. The office manager notified the office staff which providers were participating in the study.

The procedure for using the Audit-C in this office was as follows: The screen was printed on a sheet of paper with corresponding scoring directions printed on the back. Audit-C questions were asked and scored during the rooming process by office staff. The questions were either read to the patient by the office staff member or the patient selected their answers themselves. This decision was left to the individual staff member to select which worked best for their appointment work-flow. The provider would then document the score in their visit narrative. The provider also documented an intervention if that was performed.

The materials that were utilized in this study were duplicated from a study done two years prior by a previous student. One exception to this was the community resources form in which options were updated to reflect current locations and operating hours.

This procedure took place for two-months. This study was approved by the University of Kentucky IRB and the healthcare system in which the study was performed.

Data Collection

Data was collected from patient charts and provider notes during a retrospective chart review. Chart numbers were provided by the healthcare data analytics office based on inclusion and exclusion criteria, specific providers, and within the study time-frame. A temporary crosswalk table was created and kept during the study with the patient's medical record number matched to a unique study identification number to protect privacy and prevent duplication. Data collection was performed by accessing the provider note from the specific patient encounter. Data collected from each patient electronic medical record included: patient study identification number (1-100), age, gender, and race. Additional information collected included the Audit-C score charted in the provider visit note, the specific Audit-C score (0,1, 2, 2, 4, 5, etc.), whether an intervention was performed (yes or no), and if so what type of intervention was performed (counseling, referral, no intervention, patient declines intervention, and results not documented). This data was collected in an electronic spreadsheet. The temporary crosswalk was subsequently then destroyed. Tables 1 and 2.

The PI was also present in the office during the study period to answer questions and provide guidance to office staff and providers as needed. The PI asked staff and providers their thoughts about the process, any problems they were encountering, and suggestions for future use of the Audit- C tool. Hand written notes were documented by the PI after these encounters.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics including standard deviation (SD), frequency distributions, means, and percentages were applied to describe the sample and demographics. Statistical guidance was provided by a statistician from the University of Kentucky College of Nursing.

Results

One hundred charts were reviewed. The sample included 53% females, 84% Caucasians, 9% African American, and 7 % other ethnicities. The age ranges of the patients were 19-78 years with a mean age of 41 and SD of 13.9. See Table 1.

During the study 33% of Audit-C scores were documented in the provider visit note. Three additional scores were calculated from the Audit-C questions that were loaded into that EMR during the study and not from the paper Audit-C forms. The score was not documented in the provider note. However, the PI calculated the score when all three questions were answered in the EMR.

As previously stated, the Audit-C total score can range from 0-12. Men who score above 4 and women who score above 3 are considered to have a positive score. A positive score indicates potentially hazardous drinking behaviors and warrant an intervention. Audit-C scores ranged from 0 to 5 in this sample. There were no scores of 6 and above meaning no patients showed in the risky range. The most common score (n=9) that was documented was a three. For women, a score of 3 indicates potentially hazardous drinking behavior. Table 2 shows a complete breakdown of the specific scores for the group and by gender.

Four males and eight females scored high enough to warrant an intervention. EMR documentation revealed the interventions included: counseling, patient declines, and intervention results not documented if their score warranted it. Out of the four males who scored high enough to warrant an intervention, two received counseling, one declined an intervention, and one had

no intervention documented. Out of the eight women who scored high enough to warrant a brief intervention: five received counseling, two declined intervention, and one had no intervention result documented.

During discussions with the PI, various office staff members and providers stated that the screening was going well, and they did not have any questions or concerns. One staff member stated that they believed the screening was easy to perform. One provider stated that they enjoyed using the tool and enjoyed having the score it generated.

Discussion

The goal of this study was to educate providers on the importance of alcohol screening and empower them to intervene if necessary. The study had a goal of assessing the practicality of using this tool in a primary care practice. This was accomplished through evaluating the frequency with which the Audit-C score was documented as well as any indicated intervention.

Alcohol screening should be a standard of care in the primary care setting. Primary Care

Providers have the opportunity to screen for and subsequently identify risky behaviors such as

potentially hazardous drinking behaviors before it becomes an addiction or a disease state with

serious and potentially deadly consequences

Provider Adherence

The study results showed Audit-C use in primary care is practical. This is similar to a previous study which showed 92% of provider adherence during a shorter study duration (Spear, 2017). Given that two studies have showed the Audit-C is both useful in a primary care setting tells us that it is practical for primary care to utilize this tool on a broad-spectrum and impact the frequency and severity of alcohol misuse and morbidities that alcoholism causes. however more data is needed.

A study focusing on alcohol use disorders and primary health care focused on barriers that providers may find a struggle to screen and intervene for alcohol use disorders. Among major barriers for providers are lack of education and financial incentives, fear of losing patients, time constraints and role definition (Rehm, et. al., 2016). It may be beneficial to research the effects these barriers have on screening rates and methods that can be utilized to improve this and subsequently increase screening rates.

The rate of audit-C use in this study was much lower than in the original study done within this organization. This could be due to the previous study having a shorter study period that allowed more short-term focus on completing the study. The previous study also had fewer participating providers which could've granted the PI more time and access to providers to promote study procedure adherence.

One provider stated that they appreciated the objective score that the Audit-C generated. This screening tool provides objective data. Screening tools ideally identify patients early enough to provide treatment and avoid or reduce symptoms or other consequences (Iragorri and Spackman, 2018). The firm score generated by the Audit-C takes the guess work out of subjective data and enlightens providers to potential problems more efficiently and accurately. Objective data is quantitative, allowing providers to use tight abstract definition of numbers to control parameters of how ideas can be conveyed and evaluated. Objectivity allows providers to utilize data that is free from personal biases or emotional involvement (Heidar, 2015).

Providers did not indicate to the primary investigator why Audit-C scores were not documented. If a QI project study was implemented to focus on the process of adding in an alcohol screening perhaps the reasons for not using and/or not documenting the screening could be exposed and immediately rectified.

Limitations

Various limitations were identified in the design and implementation of this study. The alcohol screen was limited to new patient, annual physical, and employee wellness visits. This limits the number of patients that would be available for this screen as providers see episodic, sick, or lab visits throughout their day as well. All five providers were open to seeing new patients, but this number could be limited based on the number of new patients visits they see per day.

Another limitation to this study could be that providers had limited time for education and follow-up during the study period. It is recommended that should the Audit-C become a standard of practice permanently, there be dedicated time for education on using the tool and management of risky drinking behaviors.

A further limitation to this study is consistency of staff working with providers. The Audit-C screenings were initiated in the rooming process with the MAs and if this was not done the provider did not have this vital health information to review and act upon. Initiating an office wide culture of performing alcohol screenings would benefit a large office such as this and alleviate missed screenings.

The PI's lack of access to providers could have also been a limitation. The PI was there on study days one, 30, and 60 to answer any questions the office staff or providers may have had. The PI had various access to providers as they may not have been there on the same day as the PI. While every provider and office staff member had access to the PI's direct contact information, this was not utilized. Although these providers and office staff did not have any questions, they or future providers and staff likely will if the Audit-C screen becomes a standard of practice.

A final limitation occurred when the Audit-C screen was added into the EMR after the study started. Specifically, the three Audit-C questions were added to the EMR health maintenance screen. While the screening tool was loaded in the EMR, answering the questions did not generate a score. Nevertheless, this was a limitation to the study as MAs and providers could have been confused with which set of questions to use for screening. The PI was not aware these questions were added to the EMR until the retrospective chart review which did not allow for any discussion with the providers and staff about how to handle this change.

Implications and Recommendations

Recommendations for moving forward with future research studies include implementing this project on a larger scale with more providers. This would allow for process difficulties to be addressed on a larger scale. Future studies are crucial for the future of screening for alcohol use and misuse. Future studies could focus on those systems that have added the Audit-C screening tool into their EMRs and study the impact that resource could have on screening rates.

There is also room for improvement in educating providers and office staff on the importance of alcohol screening and motivational interviewing. Knowledge is power. Motivating providers and staff to do perform alcohol screening relies on competency in both and skill. Providers and staff also need to be on the same page when it comes to screening. It was found through this study that almost every provider and staff member assesses or documents alcohol screening in a different way. A recommendation from this study is to introduce a protocol which encourages all providers to screen and document alcohol screenings in the same way which reduces margin for error. Evidence-based protocols drive quality improvement (Finnegan, 2014).

Once providers can be shown better outcomes for patients through consensus-based practice, more buy-in from healthcare professionals will be achieved. Healthcare organizations can choose areas, such as screening for alcohol use in primary care, where they will have the

highest probability of success (Finnegan, 2014). With Kentucky near the top of the list for alcohol misuse there is potential for large impact on primary care patient health outcomes.

This study's predecessor, performed two years prior, found that in discussion with providers following the study that they recommended the Audit-C screen should be added to the EMR. That recommendation is now a reality in this particular office that this study was performed in. A subsequent recommendation based on this is that the office has an educational session both with providers and medical assistants to educate on this tool, how to complete it entirely and correctly, and how to interpret the results. Additionally, it is a recommendation from a provider in this study that the Audit-C score be automatically generated when the questions are answered in the EMR and a pop-up or side information bar reveals what the score means. This would streamline the process and not slow down the visit to score results and then interpret scores.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to expand on a previous study in the same healthcare system examining the practicality of alcohol screening using the Audit-C tool in primary care system. This study expanded upon the length of time the study was performed as well as the number of participating providers. These results show that screening for alcohol in primary care is practical. More studies need to be performed with expanded education for providers and staff to facilitate completion of the screening tool and documentation of the result. Additionally, future research on the impact of the Audit-C loaded into the EMR is needed. Alcohol screening in primary care is the front-line on the battle of alcohol abuse and misuse which is an issue that is continuing to rise in the state of Kentucky and the United States. Effective use of this screening tool alone could make a large impact on this negative health outcome and save countless lives from this epidemic.

Table 1. Demographic and visit characteristics of the sample (N = 100)

	Mean	(SD)
Age	40.8	(13.904)
	N (%)	
Gender		
Male	47 (47%)	
Female	53 (53%)	
Race		
Black	9 (9%)	
Caucasian	84 (84%)	
Other	7 (7%)	
Documented Audit C in notes		
Yes	33 (33.0%)	
No	67 (6	57.0%)

Table 2. Audit-C score distributions by gender:

Audit-C Score by Gender		
	Male (n=16)	Female (n=20)
Score		
0	2 (12.5%)	3 (15.0%)
1	3 (18.8%)	4 (20.0%)
2	3 (12.5%)	5 (25.0%)
3	5 (31.3%)	4 (20.0 %)
4	1 (6.3%)	2 (10.0%)
5	3 (18.8%)	2 (10.0 %)

^{**} The tool was used, and score documented in notes 33 times, but there were an additional three who had a score calculated from electronic scoring.

Table 3. Intervention Outcomes Among men who scored high (n=4)

Interventions for Men Who Scored high	
	2 (500/)
Counseling	2 (50%)
Patient Declines/No Intervention	1 (25%)
Results Not Documented	1 (25%)

Table 4. Intervention Outcomes Among men who scored high (n=8)

Interventions for Women Who Scored high	
Counseling	5 (62.5%)
Patient Declines/No Intervention	2 (25%)
Results Not Documented	1 (12.5%)

References

- American Public Health Association and Education Development Center, Inc. (2008). Alcohol screening and brief intervention. A guide for public health practitioners. Retrieved from https://www.integration.samhsa.gov/clinical-practice/alcohol_screening_and_brief_interventions_a_guide_for_public_health_practitioners.pdf.
- Borkowski, N. (2016). Contemporary leadership theories. In *Organizational behavior, theory, and design in health care* (2nd ed.). Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Bradley K., DeBenedetti, A., Volk, R., Williams, E., Frank, D., and Kivlahan, D., (2007). AUDT-C as a Brief Screen for Alcohol Misuse in Primary Care. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 31(7)*. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.uky.edu/doi/epdf/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00403.x.
- Campbell, C. and Maistro, S. (2018). Validity of the AUDIT-C screen for at-risk drinking among students utilizing university primary care. Retrieved from https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.uky.edu/doi/pdf/10.1080/07448481.2018.1453514?needAccess=true.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2015. At A Glance 2016: Excessive Alcohol Use: Preventing a Leading Risk for Death, Disease, and Injury. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/publications/aag/pdf/2015/alcohol-aag.pdf.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2016. Excessive Drinking is Draining the US Economy. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/features/costsofdrinking/index.html.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2016. National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey: 2016 National Summary Tables. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ahcd/namcs_summary/2016_namcs_web_tables.pdf.
- Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). 2019. Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT) Services. *MLN Booklet*. Retrieved from https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Medicare-Learning-Network-MLN/MLNProducts/downloads/SBIRT Factsheet ICN904084.pdf.
- Dguzeh, U., Haddad, N., Smith, K., Johnson, J., Doye, A., Gwathmey, J., & Haddad, G. (2018). Alcoholism: A Multi-Systemic Cellular Insult to Organs. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(6), 1083. MDPI AG. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15061083
- Finnegan, J. (2014). Evidence-based protocols drive quality improvement. FierceHealthcare. Retrieved from https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/healthcare/evidence-based-protocols-drive-quality-improvement.

- Fleming, M. (2005). Screening and Brief Intervention in Primary Care Settings. *Alcohol and Research in Health*, 28(2). Retrieved from https://pubs.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/arh28-2/57-62.pdf.
- Heidar. (2015). Differences Between Quantitative, Qualitative, Objective and Subjective Data. Retrieved from https://medium.com/@heidar/differences-between-quantitative-qualitative-objective-and-subjective-data-56df96dc0fc8.
- Iragorri, N. and Spackman, E. (2018). Assessing the value of screening tools: reviewing the challenges and opportunities of cost-effectiveness analysis. *Public Health Reviews:* 39(17). Retrieved from https://publichealthreviews.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s40985-018-0093-8.
- Jeong, H. S., Park, S., Lim, S. M., Ma, J., Kang, I., Kim, J., ... Kim, J. E. (2017). Psychometric Properties of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test-Consumption (AUDIT-C) in Public First Responders. *Substance Use & Misuse*, *52*(8), 1069–1075. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28323556.
- Kiefe, C., Allison, J., Williams, D., Person, D., Weaver, T., Weissman, W. (2001). Improving Quality Improvement Using Achievable Benchmarks for Physician Feedback: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA.285(22):2871–2879*. Retrieved from https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/193913.
- Lewin, K. (1951). Field theory in social science. New York, NY: Harper and Row.
- Mcneely, J., Kumar, P. C., Rieckmann, T., Sedlander, E., Farkas, S., Chollak, C., ... Rotrosen, J. (2018). Barriers and facilitators affecting the implementation of substance use screening in primary care clinics: a qualitative study of patients, providers, and staff. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice, 13(1). Retrieved from https://ascpjournal.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s13722-018-0110-8.
- Meneses-Gaya, C., Zuardi, A., Loureiro, S., Hallak, J., Trzesniak, C., Marques, J., Machado-de-Sousa, M., Chagas, M., Souza, R., and Crippa, J., (2010). Is the Full Version of the AUDIT Really Necessary? Study of the Validity and Internal Construct of Its Abbreviated Versions. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 34(8): 1417-1424. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.uky.edu/doi/epdf/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01225.x.
- Moyer, V., Screening and Behavioral Counseling Interventions in Primary Care to Reduce Alcohol Misuse: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *Annals of Internal Medicine 159(3):210-218*. Retrieved from http://annals.org/aim/fullarticle/1722524.
- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. (2017). Alcohol Facts and Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/alcohol-health/overview-alcohol-consumption/alcohol-facts-and-statistics

- NIH. (2017). Alcohol Facts and Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/alcohol-poisoning-deaths/index.html.
- Rehm, J., Anderson, P., Manthey, J., Shield, K., Struzzo, P., Wojnar, M., and Gual, A. (2016). Alcohol Use Disorders in Primary Health Care: What do We Know and Where Do We Go? *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, *51(4)*, *pgs.* 422-427. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/alcalc/article/51/4/422/1739927.
- Rumpf, H., Hapke, U., Meyer, C., John, U. (2002). Screening for Alcohol Use Disorders and At-Risk Drinking in the General Population: Psychometric Performance of Three Questionnaires. *Alcohol & Alcoholism 37(3) pp. 261-268*. Retrieved from <u>ile:///Users/courtneyminnis/Google%20Drive/Alcohol%20Screening-%20comparing%20screening.pdf</u>.
- Sacks, J., Gonzales, K., and Bouchery, E. (2015). 2010 National and State Costs of Excessive Alcohol Consumption. *American Journal of Preventitive Medicine* 49(5): 73-79. Retrieved from https://www.aipmonline.org/article/S0749-3797(15)00354-2/fulltext.
- Saltz, R., Friedmann, P., Sullivan, L., Winter, M., Lloyed-Travaglini, C., Moskowitz, M., and Samet, J. (2002). Saitz, R., Friedmann, P. D., Sullivan, L. M., Winter, M. R., Lloyd-Travaglini, C., Moskowitz, M. A., & Samet, J. H. (2002). Professional Satisfaction Experienced When Caring for Substance-abusing Patients: Faculty and Resident Physician Perspectives. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 17(5), 373–376. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2002.10520.x
- Spear, W. (2017). Screening for Alcohol use/abuse in the Primary Care Setting using the AUDIT-C and SBIRT (Screening, Brief Intervention, Referral to Treatment).
- Strayer, S., Pelletier S., Rolliins, L., Heim, S., Ingersoll, K., Ritterband, L., and Schorling, J. (2012). Evaluation of a screening and counseling tool for alcohol misuse: A Virginia practice support and research network (VaPSRN) trial. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 25(5): 605-613.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2015). Behavioral Health Trends in the United States: Results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-FRR1-2014.pdf.
- Tam, C., Zwar, N., and Markham, R. (2013). Australian General Practitioner Perceptions of the Detection and Screening of at-risk Drinking, and the Role of the Audit-C: a qualitative study. *BMC Family Practice*, 14(121). Retrieved from https://bmcfampract.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/1471-2296-14-121.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2015). Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2015-2020. Retrieved from https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/alcohol-health/overview-alcohol-consumption/moderate-binge-drinking

- USPSTF. (2004). Screening and Behavioral Counseling Interventions in Primary Care to Reduce Alcohol Misuse: Recommendation Statement. (2004). *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 140(7), 554. Retrieved from http://europepmc.org/abstract/med/15068984.
- USPSTF. (2019). Unhealthy Alcohol Use in Adolescents and Adults: Screening and Behavioral Counseling Interventions. Retrieved from https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStateme <a href="https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStateme <a href="https://www.uspreventiveservice
- World Health Organization. (2014). Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health 2014. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/msb_gsr_2014_1.pdf?ua=1.